IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF MISSOURI
SOUTHERN DIVISION
CYNTHIA HUFFMAN, et al.
Plaintiff/Plaintiff-Intervenors,
vs.
NEW PRIME, INC., et al.
Defendants.

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

Case No. 01-3144-CV-S-3-ECF
JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

PLAINTIFF VIRGINIA KING’S SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT
COMES NOW Plaintiff- Intervenor Virginia King (hereafter “King”) by and through her
undersigned attorneys, and for her cause of action against the Defendants New Prime, Inc.
(hereafter “Prime”) and Defendant Kenneth Littlejohn (hereafter “Littlejohn”) state the following:
PARTIES
1.

Plaintiff-Intervenor Virginia King is a resident of the State of Ohio, residing in

Columbus, Franklin County, Ohio. She has the capacity to sue.
2.

Plaintiff Equal Employment Opportunity Commission ("EEOC"), the federal

agency charged with the administration, interpretation and enforcement of Title VII, brought the
instant action pursuant to § 706(f)(1) and (3) of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as
amended, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-5(f)(1) and (3). It has the capacity to sue.
3.

Defendant New Prime, Inc. is a corporation of the State of Nebraska, with its

principal place of business located at 2740 North Mayfair, Springfield, Missouri 65808.
Defendant Prime is also registered with the State of Missouri under the name Prime, Inc. and
conducts business in the State of Missouri under that name. It has the capacity to be sued.
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4.

Defendant Kenneth Littlejohn is a resident of the State of Arkansas, residing in

Pulaski County. Defendant Littlejohn at all times relevant herein had numerous contacts and did
business within the State of Missouri. Specifically, Defendant Littlejohn, at all relevant times, was
an over-the-road truck driver. The main, if not exclusive contracts or employment by Defendant
Littlejohn, were for hauling various goods as directed by the Defendant Prime. Those contracts
entered into by Defendant Littlejohn with Defendant Prime were all sitused in the State of
Missouri. In some instances, litigation involving such contracts was stipulated to to be in this
Court or at least in the Courts of Greene County. Some of the tortious acts complained of herein,
committed by Defendant Littlejohn, took place in the State of Missouri. Defendant Littlejohn has
the capacity to be sued with venue and jurisdiction in this Court.
JURISDICTION AND VENUE
5.

Plaintiff-Intervenor King brings her cause of action pursuant to § 706(f)(1) and (3)

of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-5(f)(1) and
(3)("Title VII"), and § 102(d) of the Civil Rights Act of 1991, 42 U.S.C. § 1981a. The
jurisdiction of this Court is invoked pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 451, 1331, 1337, 1343 and 1345.
Plaintiff-Intervenor King has the statutory right to intervene in the instant action pursuant to §
706(f)(1) of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-5(f)(1),
and pursuant to F.R.C.P. 24(a)(1), which grants the right to intervene where a statute of the
United States confers an unconditional right to intervene. Plaintiff-Intervenor King brings her
state claims pursuant to Missouri Tort Law. This Court has jurisdiction over Plaintiff-Intervenor
King’s pendent and supplemental state claims pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367.
6.

Defendant Prime is an employer engaged within the meaning of Title VII, §
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701(b), (g) and (h), 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-5(b),(g) and (h).
7.

Plaintiff-Intervenor King filed her charge of discrimination with the EEOC.

8.

Plaintiff-Intervenor King was employed in the State of Missouri by Defendant

9.

Venue is proper in this Court pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-5 and 28 U.S.C. §

Prime.

1391(b) in that Defendant Prime maintains its principal office in this judicial district, and in that
a substantial part of the events or omissions giving rise to Plaintiff-Intervenor King’s claims
occurred in this judicial district. Certain acts by Defendant Littlejohn took place in Missouri.
Certain acts more specifically described below were of an ongoing, harassing, intimidating nature,
wherein such acts began in the State of Missouri and continued on, as more specifically stated
below, in and through other states, all of which caused Plaintiff-Intervenor King great mental and
emotional distress. Such acts of Defendant Littlejohn are more specifically stated below.
10.

§500.506 et. seq. RSMo. (Missouri Long Arm Statute) confers jurisdiction of this

Court over Defendant Littlejohn due to his minimum contacts with the State of Missouri. Such
contacts are more specifically alleged below. This Court is bound by the State of Missouri
Supreme Court on its interpretation of State Statutes. Institutional Food Marketing Associates,
Ltd. v. Golden State Strawberries, Inc. 747 F.2d 448 (8th Cir.1984). The reach of State Long
Arm Statute is a question of State law and the Federal Court is bound by the State Supreme
Courts interpretation of that Long Arm Statute.
11.

Defendant Littlejohn has engaged in the following acts in the State of Missouri,

upon which the Missouri Long Arm Statute gives this Court jurisdiction:
a.

Transacted business within the State of Missouri;
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12.

b.

Made contracts within the State of Missouri; and

c.

Committed tortious acts within the State of Missouri.

Due to the acts of Defendant Littlejohn, Plaintiff-Intervenor King has sustained

actionable consequences in Missouri, specifically the loss of her job, embarrassment and great
emotional distress.
STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS
13.

Plaintiff-Intervenor King incorporates and re-alleges Paragraphs 1 through 12 of

this Complaint as is fully set forth herein.
14.

Defendant Prime, at all relevant times, operated Prime, Inc. in Springfield, Greene

County, Missouri, and employed Plaintiff-Intervenor King as a truck driver-trainee.
15.

Plaintiff-Intervenor King was assigned to Hosea Washington, a male trainer, who

stated that he “don’t think that women should be driving trucks...” and would not train PlaintiffIntervenor King what she needed to learn. Plaintiff-Intervenor King requested to be removed
from Washington’s truck for failure to be trained.
16.

Plaintiff-Intervenor King requested repeatedly to be placed with a female trainer,

due to Washington’s comments, prior to being assigned to the male trainer Defendant Littlejohn.
17.

Defendant Littlejohn has had numerous contacts with the State of Missouri at all

relevant times. Specifically:
a.

Defendant Littlejohn entered into various contracts with Defendant Prime,
including:
(1.)

Leased equipment from Defendant Prime (Ex. A). Such contract
dated 2/12/97 provided for its situs to be the State of Missouri and
venue in this Court and District for causes of action from operation
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of such equipment. (Many of Defendant Littlejohn’s acts were
conducted in the equipment that is subject of this contract, Ex. A.)
(2.)

An “Independent Contractor Operator Agreement” (Ex. B) dated
2/12/97 was executed between Defendant Littlejohn and Defendant
Prime. Such contract provided in part:
(a)

“... all actions or proceedings arising in connection with this
agreement shall be tried and litigated only in the Court of
the State of Missouri of the United States for the Western
District of Missouri, Southern Division”;

(b)

The situs of the contract is Greene County, Missouri; and

(c)

Such contract was a 1 year contract automatically
renewable year-to-year.

(3.)

“The Personal Service Agreement” dated 2/12/97 (Ex. C). By the
agreement, Defendant Prime provided to Defendant Littlejohn
drivers, such as Plaintiff-Intervenor King, which placed Defendant
Littlejohn in a supervisory role over drivers like Plaintiff-Intervenor
King, including whether or not she is discharged. Such control also
specified Missouri Law was the choice of law. By signing such an
agreement Defendant Littlejohn agreed “...that all actions and
proceeds arising in connection with this agreement shall be tried
and litigated in the Courts of Missouri in the United States for the
Western District of Missouri, Southern Division. Defendant
Littlejohn accepted this Court as proper venue and jurisdiction.
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(4.)

A lease agreement with Defendant Prime (Ex. D) dated 2/12/97
leased certain equipment by Defendant Prime to Defendant
Littlejohn. By such lease, Defendant Littlejohn chose Missouri law
to construe the contract.

18.

At all times relevant herein, Defendant Littlejohn acted on behalf of Defendant

Prime as Plaintiff-Intervenor King’s supervisor. Plaintiff-Intervenor King’s employment with
Prime originated and was located in Missouri at Defendant Prime’s principal locations. Defendant
Littlejohn’s supervisory position originated from and was performed for Defendant Prime.
Littlejohn’s principal place of business is in Missouri. Defendant Littlejohn, in effect, became
Plaintiff-Intervenor’s supervisor by his performance of the “Personnel Service Agreement” (Ex.
C). In such agreement, Defendant Littlejohn executed such contract in Missouri and stipulated to
the venue of both State and Federal Courts found in Greene County, Missouri.
19.

Defendant Littlejohn committed numerous acts of intentional and negligent

infliction of mental distress, including the following:
a.

On September 2, 1997, Plaintiff-Intervenor King was approached by
Defendant Littlejohn asking King if he could be her trainer and co-driver.
Even though Plaintiff-Intervenor wanted a woman trainer and had
requested Prime for such, a woman trainer was not provided. Defendant
Littlejohn assured King that she could be his co-driver and he her trainer.
Such acts and statements by Defendant Littlejohn were made in
Springfield, Missouri.

b.

Defendant Littlejohn portrayed to Plaintiff-Intervenor King, while at the
Springfield terminal, that he was a Christian, did not sleep around, had a
6

girlfriend and wanted this only to be a business relationship.
c.

Relying upon Littlejohn’s representation, Plaintiff-Intervenor agreed to go
with him as his trainee, and he as her trainer.

d.

While still in the State of Missouri, Defendant immediately made
inappropriate comments about his relationship with his girlfriend, including
private and personal issues and began asking King questions about her
personal life. These comments caused great mental anguish and distress to
the Plaintiff-Intervenor.

e.

Defendant Littlejohn suggested that Plaintiff-Intervenor take the bottom
bunk and sleep.

f.

After Plaintiff-Intervenor thanked him, Defendant Littlejohn asked PlaintiffIntervenor if he could sleep with her in that same bunk. PlaintiffIntervenor said no.

g.

Plaintiff-Intervenor went to the bottom bunk. Soon after PlaintiffIntervenor laid down, Littlejohn stopped and parked the truck. He climbed
up to the top bunk upon which he proceeded to reach down and across
King, as well as, kept watching her as she tried to sleep. At best to King’s
knowledge, they were still in the State of Missouri.

h.

At this point, Littlejohn had made Plaintiff-Intervenor uncomfortable,
embarrassed and distressed. So much so, that she elected to sleep in the
front seat of the truck instead of on the bunks.

i.

From then on while Plaintiff-Intervenor was awake Defendant Littlejohn
continually spoke about personal, private and non-business matters usually
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leading to talk about sex or he would make sexual innuendo comments.
Such actions and statements began immediately upon leaving Springfield,
and while still in the State of Missouri and continued on throughout the
trip. Such statements caused King great mental anguish and distress which
continues today.
20.

Plaintiff-Intervenor King was sexually assaulted, raped and molested at the hands

of Defendant Prime’s trainer, Littlejohn while on his truck.
21.

Defendant Littlejohn requested Defendant Prime to remove Plaintiff-Intervenor

King from Littlejohn’s truck after he sexually assaulted, raped and molested her.
22.

Defendant Littlejohn then drove Plaintiff-Intervenor King to a Motel Six in Texas

shortly after the sexual assault.
23.

Littlejohn stated that he was headed for Laredo, Texas. He warned King not to

tell anyone and especially not to call or tell anyone at Prime. This caused Plaintiff-Intervenor
great mental anguish and distress.
24.

After giving Plaintiff-Intervenor a warning, Defendent Littlejohnn left for Laredo,

Texas. Once Littlejohn left, Plaintiff-Intervenor was not in physical fear that Littlejohn would
return to assault her due to him being as late for this next delivery. King was, however, anxious
and distressed from the warning Littlejohn to not tell anyone about the rape.
25.

Plaintiff-Intervenor King contacted Defendant Prime through dispatcher, Stan

Auman, requesting to speak to a female and to be returned to either Springfield or her home via a
female trainer or other means of transportation.
26.

Dispatcher Stan Auman refused to contact a female and insisted upon placing

King on a truck with another male trainer.
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27.

Plaintiff-Intervenor King contacted Defendant Prime to speak to another

dispatcher, however, her call was routed back to Auman. Upon King’s explanation that “men
want sexual favors” as the reason why she was requesting to talk to a female dispatcher and only
drive with a female instructor, Auman further traumatized King by yelling at her that “...the
instructors were outstanding family men and they would not do anything of the sort...”or words to
that effect, asserting to her that no female trainers were available and refused to provide a female
trainer to Plaintiff-Intervenor.
28.

The location of where Plaintiff-Intervenor was dropped off was in remote Texas, a

place King had never been and a completely foreign place to her. Plaintiff-Intervenor was alone,
embarrassed and ashamed. Plaintiff-Intervenor took a shower because she felt dirty. Defendant
Littlejohn’s actions after the rape and molestation caused Plaintiff-Intervenor great mental anguish
and distress.
29.

Plaintiff-Intervenor was subjected to additional mental distress by Defendant

Littlejohn after he left the hotel. Defendant Littlejohn took it upon himself to call the hotel and
harass King by telling her that “Prime said for him to return her to Springfield”. King became
very fearful due to his actions.
30.

Even though Plaintiff-Intervenor King had requested a female co-driver to return

her to Springfield, due to the above circumstances, Defendant Prime elected to assign another
male trainer, Gerald Felders, to return her to headquarters in Springfield, Missouri. King was
assured by Prime that Felders would be routed directly back to Springfield where he could drop
her off. However, King shortly became aware of the false representation Prime had made to her
about being routed directly back to Springfield. Defendant Prime through its dispatch knew that
driver Felders was in route to California before he would return back to Springfield, Missouri.
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31.

Upon entering Felders’ truck, Plaintiff-Intervenor King was subjected to Felders’

choice of playing sexually explicit songs which described sexual assaults on women and other
violent acts. King requested Felders’ to turn off the offensive music and was told “this is my
truck I will play the music I like...”
32.

Plaintiff-Intervenor contacted Defendant Prime and complained to a female

dispatcher, Kim Haynes, with regard to the offensive music and her need to get back to Prime or
her home immediately.
33.

Haynes contacted Felders with regard to his choice of music and asked that he not

play such music. Felders later yelled at King for complaining about him to Haynes. PlaintiffIntervenor was further traumatized by Felders.
34.

Plaintiff-Intervenor King removed herself from Felders truck, contacted Defendant

Prime through dispatcher Haynes, explained that she feared that she was pregnant or
had contracted some disease from Littlejohn, and needed to see a doctor. Haynes finally sent
King a bus ticket to return to her home.
35.

Plaintiff-Intervenor King demanded to know what if anything had happened to

Defendant Littlejohn in terms of discipline by Defendant Prime. Defendant Prime refused to
divulge “personal information” to King.
36.

Defendant Prime constructively discharged Plaintiff-Intervenor King on or about

September 12, 1997 by creating an intolerable working condition for Plaintiff-Intervenor King, as
is described herein and in violation of Section 703(a) of Title VII, 42 U.S.C. §2000e-2(a).
37.

As a result of the actions alleged above, Plaintiff-Intervenor King has suffered and

will continue to suffer emotional distress, loss of enjoyment of life, loss of reputation,
humiliation, prolonged incapacity to work, and inconvenience, lost wages to date and lost wages
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in the future.
38.

As a result of the actions alleged above, Plaintiff-Intervenor King has incurred and

continues to incur counseling and medical expenses.
39.

Defendant Littlejohn had substantial and ongoing contacts with the State of

Missouri at all times relevant to the facts and causes of this case. Specifically:
a.

Littlejohn had numerous business contacts and stipulated to the venue and
situs of Missouri with regard to those contracts and the conduct of his
business;

b.

He Performed his work under such contracts throughout the State of
Missouri in that he would drive his truck wherever Defendant Prime sent
him, including the State of Missouri and his terminal was located in the
State of Missouri;

c.

Defendant Littlejohn committed tortious acts in Missouri and committed
tortious acts in other states that either began in Missouri, continued on
from acts in Missouri and certainly had consequences in Missouri;

d.

Missouri and this Court have an interest in providing a forum for this
cause; and

e.

The convenience for all parties considered is served by this cause being
venued in this jurisdiction and this Court.

COUNTS I AND II
TITLE VII AND CHAPTER 214 RSMo. - SEXUAL HARASSMENT
AND CONSTRUCTIVE DISCHARGE DEFENDANT PRIME
40.

Plaintiff-Intervenor King incorporates and re-alleges Paragraphs 1 through 39 of
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this Complaint as if fully set forth herein.
41.

By the unlawful acts alleged above, Defendant Prime has violated Title VII.

42.

As a direct and proximate result of Defendant Prime’s unlawful acts, Plaintiff-

Intervenor King has sustained and is reasonably likely to sustain in the future irreparable harm
in the form of both pecuniary and nonpecuniary losses, including but not limited to, lost wages
and benefits, emotional pain, suffering, inconvenience, humiliation, loss of enjoyment of life,
loss of reputation, medical and counseling expenses, and attorneys’ fees and expenses.
43.

Defendant Prime acted with malice and with reckless indifference to Plaintiff-

Intervenor King’s right not to be discriminated against, thus making appropriate an award of
punitive damages to punish the Defendant Prime and to deter the Defendant Prime and others
from like conduct. Such malice or reckless indifference is part of a pattern of conduct engaged in
by Defendant Prime on prior, similar occasions.
WHEREFORE, Plaintiff-Intervenor King prays that this Court enter judgment pursuant
to Title VII in her favor and against Defendant Prime and enter an order:
a.

Declaring all acts in violation of Title VII;

b.

Enjoining and permanently restraining Defendant Prime from continued
violations of Title VII;

c.

Directing Defendant Prime to take such affirmative action as is necessary
to ensure that the effects of these unlawful practices are eliminated and to
not continue to affect Plaintiff-Intervenor King’s employment
opportunities;

d.

Requiring Defendant Prime to compensate, reimburse, and make whole
Plaintiff-Intervenor King for the full value of all pecuniary and
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nonpecuniary damages she has sustained in the past, and is reasonably
certain to sustain in the future, including, but not limited to, any and all
back and front pay and benefits, medical and counseling expenses,
offensive touching, embarrassment, humiliation, loss enjoyment of life,
potential loss of reputation, and all consequent damages;
e.

Awarding her attorneys’ fees, costs and all other damages and losses she is
entitled to under the law and the facts of this case.

COUNT III
INTENTIONAL OR NEGLIGENT INFLICTION OF MENTAL DISTRESS
DEFENDANT PRIME
44.

Plaintiff-Intervenor King restates paragraph 1 - 43 above as if fully restated herein

and incorporates them by reference.
45.

Defendant Prime was repeatedly contacted by Plaintiff-Intervenor with regard to

the acts of Defendant Littlejohn including his comments, general harassment both sexual and
otherwise indicating a need for Plaintiff-Intervenor to be removed from the truck and returned
home by Defendant Prime away from this specific trucker. Plaintiff-Intervenor further requested
Defendant Prime, through its dispatchers, to specifically assign her to a female trainer and
also to return her to Springfield or her home through the use of a female truck driver. At all
times, Defendant Prime denied such requests.
46.

Defendant Prime knew or should have known that Defendant Littlejohn had a

propensity to sexually molest and potentially rape female trainees including Plaintiff-Intervenor
King. With such knowledge Defendant Prime negligently assigned Plaintiff-Intervenor King to
ride and be trained by Defendant Littlejohn.
47.

Being given notice by the Plaintiff-Intervenor of Littlejohn’s conduct during the
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trip, necessitated immediate action by Defendant Prime to not only remove her from the truck
but also to make arrangements for her safety. Defendant Prime knew or should have known that
Plaintiff-Intervenor King would be subjected to emotional damages by the conduct of Defendant
Littlejohn and by the circumstances that would likely occur and that immediate attention
necessitated the return of Plaintiff-Intervenor King to her home or to Springfield and the actions
taken by Defendant Littlejohn properly addressed. To require her to remain in a hotel, by herself
in Texas where she had no means to return home or to provide for herself, exacerbated and
increased the emotional damages and trauma caused by Littlejohn’s acts.
48.

Defendant Prime knew or should have known that to assign Plaintiff-Intervenor

King to Defendant Littlejohn would subject her to severe emotional distress.
49.

Defendant Prime knew or should have known that to leave Plaintiff-Intervenor

King in the truck and assign as a trainer, Defendant Littlejohn, to the Plaintiff-Intervenor would
subject her to a high likelihood of sexual harassment, sexual abuse, molestation, threats and
potentially rape. Such acts by the Defendant Prime are negligent and Defendant Prime knew or
should have known that both the assignment to Defendant Littlejohn as Plaintiff-Intervenor King’s
trainer and leaving her with Defendant Littlejohn for any extended period of time would result in
and likely cause emotional harm and trauma to the Plaintiff-Intervenor.
50.

After Plaintiff-Intervenor King had been raped by Defendant Littlejohn,

Defendant Prime was then notified by Defendant Littlejohn that he could not work with the
Plaintiff-Intervenor and that she should be removed from the truck. Defendant Littlejohn and
Defendant Prime, acting together dropped Plaintiff-Intervenor off in a Motel 6 somewhere in the
state of Texas without any means for her to return home, return to Springfield, provide for
herself, seek medical attention or otherwise be treated or cared for as a result of the injuries that
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she sustained at the hands of Defendant Littlejohn.
51.

Plaintiff-Intervenor King contacted Defendant Prime, informed Prime of

Littlejohn’s sexual assault, her condition, the need for her to return to Springfield or her home, to
have a female return a call to her, to be able to talk to a female as to the things that had happened
to her at the hands of Defendant Littlejohn and that she needed appropriate care for her condition.
Defendant Prime negligently failed to provide for King any means for medical care or to address
the injuries and damages she had sustained, and Defendant Prime falsely portrayed to King that
she would be immediately returned to Springfield by trucker Felders.
52.

Defendant Prime provided transportation indirectly back to Springfield by

utilizing trucker Felders to pick up Plaintiff-Intervenor King. Defendant Prime falsely stated to
Plaintiff-Intervenor that Felders would take her directly to Springfield when in fact Defendant
Prime routed Felders to the State of California to make a delivery and then return to Springfield.
53.

Plaintiff-Intervenor King was further subjected to additional emotional trauma by

Defendant’s trucker Felders, by his on going playing and utilization of sexually explicit tapes that
included references to abuse of women, including the rape of women, and his general
dislike for women based upon his conduct towards her. Such facilitated and increased the
emotional trauma to Plaintiff-Intervenor who had just been raped by another of Defendant Prime’s
truckers, trainer Littlejohn.
54.

Plaintiff-Intervenor King removed herself from Defendant Felders’ truck at a

truck stop and then once again, called Defendant Prime and informed them that she needed
medical care, a bus ticket to return home and that she needed to speak to a woman. At some
point in time Plaintiff-Intervenor then informed Kim Haynes, a female dispatcher at Prime, that
Defendant Littlejohn had raped her and that she was very concerned about the possibility of a
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sexually transmitted disease and/or pregnancy and her immediate need for medical care due to
being raped by Littlejohn.
55.

Defendant Prime took little or no action, and in fact, ultimately only provided her

with a bus ticket back home, and eventually said that she could seek some medical care with
regard to addressing her concerns as a result of the rape. Defendant Prime was negligent in
inflicting emotional distress to the Plaintiff-Intervenor after Defendant Littlejohn’s rape of her in
the following fashion:
a.

Failed to immediately remove her from Littlejohn’s truck and get her back
home safely to either Springfield or to her own home after she informed
Defendant Prime of his conduct;

b.

Falsely portrayed to her that there was a trucker, Felders, who would treat
her with dignity and respect and immediately bring her back to
Springfield, when in fact, that was false, and Felders subjected her to
further sexual abuse and emotional trauma as described above with no
intention of returning her immediately to Springfield. Defendant
Prime told Plaintiff-Intervenor that she would be immediately returned to
Springfield knowing such representation was false;

c.

Defendant Prime failed to address King’s concerns for her necessary
medical care and treatment;

d.

Defendant Prime placed King in Texas and other locations where she had
no means to support herself, provide for herself, get medical care, or return
home. All contributing to Plaintiff-Intervenor’s emotional state of mind
after being raped. Only after numerous phone calls and pleas was she
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provided a minimal amount of care addressing her emotional and physical
concerns.
56.

After Defendant Prime learned of Plaintiff-Intervenor King being raped by

Defendant Littlejohn, then later subjected to the sexual harassment as described above by
Defendant Prime’s trucker Felders and after Defendant Prime knew of Plaintiff-Intervenor King
being stranded in West Texas by herself, the Defendant Prime chose a further course of conduct
which was intentional and made with the intent to scare, harm and cause emotional injury
damages to Plaintiff-Intervenor King. Such acts of Defendant Prime taken against PlaintiffIntervenor King were:
a.

Demanding that King reimburse Defendant Prime for cost for her staying in
hotels and the cost for returning her to her home;

b.

Demanding that King completer her one year contract with Prime without
providing to her a safe environment to work. Defendant Prime then failed
to pay the $5,000 for the 6 weeks of MTC “training” King received, her
bus ticket home due to her trauma, and her medical bills she sustained due
to the sexually assault, rape and molestation of Defendant Littlejohn.
Plaintiff-Intervenor King was turned over to a collection agency by MTC
and has had her credit ruined by being on her credit report.

c.

Making further demand for various costs incurred due to PlaintiffIntervenor needing to be removed from the Littlejohn and Felders’ trucks
and clearly cease her training and her returning to her home;

d.

Defendant Prime’s intentional deducting from Plaintiff-Intervenors’
paycheck the above described costs;
17

e.

Instituting legal actions, service of process and ultimately attempting to
garnish Plaintiff-Intervenor King’s wages for certain of the above described
costs and reimbursement of such cost.

57.

Such acts by Defendant Prime were taken to intimidate, scare, frighten and to

cause such harm to Plaintiff-Intervenor that she would not pursue any causes of action against
Defendant Prime for the acts of trucker Felders and trucker Littlejohn and more specifically for
the cause of action of sexual harassment.
58.

The Defendant Prime knew or should have known that the above actions as

described in this Count by Defendant Prime against Plaintiff-Intervenor would cause her severe
emotional harm and injury and such actions were in fact taken by Defendant Prime with the
intention to cause such harm.
59.

Such acts warrant an award of punitive damages.

WHEREFORE Plaintiff-Intervenor prays judgment in her favor and against the
Defendant Prime on her claim of intentional or negligent infliction of mental distress and for
an award of damages which will properly value the damages, injuries and losses that she has
sustained by the acts of Defendant Prime, for an award of punitive damages and for an award for
any and all other damages, losses or injuries that she is entitled to under the law and as supported
by the facts.
COUNT IV
INTENTIONAL OR NEGLIGENT INFLICTION OF MENTAL DISTRESS
DEFENDANT LITTLEJOHN
60.

Plaintiff-Intervenor King restates paragraph 1 - 59 above as if fully restated herein

and incorporates them by reference.
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61.

Defendant Littlejohn contacted Plaintiff-Intervenor King by phone after leaving

her at the Motel 6, to warned her about telling Defendant Prime about the sexual assault, rape
and molestation. Such acts caused further mental and emotional distress.
62.

Defendant Littlejohn also stated to King that “Prime said for him to return her to

Springfield...” or words to that effect, further traumatizing King. Plaintiff-Intervenor King
contacted Defendant Prime to verify such statement.
63.

Such acts by Defendant Littlejohn were taken to intimidate, scare, frighten and to

cause such harm to Plaintiff-Intervenor that she would not pursue any causes of actions against
Defendant Littlejohn and more specifically for the causes of action of sexual harassment, rape
and molestation.
64.

Defendant Littlejohn knew or should have known that the above actions as

described in this count by Defendant Littlejohn against Plaintiff-Intervenor would cause her severe
emotional harm and injury and in fact such actions were in fact taken by Defendant Littlejohn with
the intention to cause such harm.
65.

Such acts warrant an award of punitive damages.

WHEREFORE Plaintiff-Intervenor prays judgment in her favor and against the
Defendant Littlejohn on her claim of intentional or negligent infliction of mental distress and for
an award of damages which will properly value the damages, injuries and losses that she has
sustained by the acts of Defendant Littlejohn, for an award of punitive damages and for an award
for any and all other damages, losses or injuries that she is entitled to under the law and as
supported by the facts.
Respectfully Submitted,
ROGER G. BROWN AND ASSOCIATES
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By

/s/Roger G. Brown
Roger G. Brown (#29055)
216 East McCarty Street
Jefferson City, Missouri 65101-2960
Telephone - (573) 634-8501
Telecopy - (573) 634-7679

ATTORNEY FOR PLAINTIFFS
MONTAGUE, PITTMAN & VARNADO
F. Douglas Montague
P.O. Drawer 1975
Hattiesburg, Mississippi 39403-1975
Telephone - (601) 544-1234
Telecopy - (601) 544-1280
ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF CYNTHIA
HUFFMAN
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
The undersigned hereby certifies that a copy of the foregoing was sent
electronically and mailed, postage prepaid, this 3rd day of July, 2002 , to: James C.
Sullivan, Shughart Thomson & Kilroy, P.C., Twelve Wyandotte Plaza, 120 W.12th
Street, Kansas City, Missouri 64105, Ms. JoAnne Spears Jackson, Yates, Mauck,
Bohrer, Elliff, Croessmann & Wieland, P.C., Southwest Bancshares Financial
Center, 3333 East Battlefield, Suite 1000, Springfield, Missouri 65804, Ms. Rebecca
S. Stith, U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission, Robert A. Young
Building, 1222 Spruce Street, Room 8.100, St. Louis, Missouri 63103, Tina G.
Fowler, Lathrop & Gage L.C., P.O. Box 4288, Springfield, Missouri 65808-4288 and
Doug Montague, P.O. Drawer 1975, Hattiesburg, Mississippi 39403-1975.
/s/Roger G. Brown
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